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1. Name of Property
Historic name: Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility
Other names/site number:

2. Location
Street & Number: 1111 North Capitol Street. N.E. r 1 Not for Publication
City or town: Washington f 1 Vicinity
State: D.C. Code: 001 County Code: Zip Code: 20560-0007

3. State/Federai Agency Certification
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preser\ ation Act as amended. I hereby certify that this^ nomination [ ] request for determination of eligibility 
meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth 
in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property ^ meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant [ ] 
nationally [ ] statewide^locally. ([ ] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

PArv(P ^ A-t^T(Ufe SltPo^PC^
Signature of certifyii^ official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau
In my opinioa the properly [ ] meets (] does not meet the National Register criteria. ([ ] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification 0 Signatiue of tl e Keeper

aitAjj/lff ArA !(//)
1. l^by. certily that this properly is:
M entered in the National Register.

( ) see continuation sheet 
[ ] determined eligible for the National Register 

( ) see continuation sheet
[ ] determined not eligible for the National Register 
[ ] removed ftom the National Register 
[ ] other, (explain:)

of Action



Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility Washington. DC 
Name of Property County and State

5. Classification
Ownership of Property 
[X] Private 
[ ] Public-Local 
[ ] Public-State 
[ ] Public-Federal

Category of Property 
[X] Building(s)
[ ] District 
[ ] Site 
[ ] Structure 
[ ] Object

Name of related multiple property listing 
Telecommunications Resources of Washington. D.C. 
1877-1954

No. Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontributing

1  Buildings
__  __Sites
__   Structure
__  __Objects

1 _ Total
Number of contributing 
Resources previously 
listed in the National 
Register 0

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (enter categories 
from instructions)
INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTIQN: 

Communications Facility

Current Functions (enter 
categories from instructions) 
CQMMERCE/TRADE: Warehouse

7. Description
Architectural Classification 
(enter categories from instructions) 
ART DECO (utilitarian)

Materials (enter categories from insfructions)

foundation: CONCRETE_________________
walls: METAL: Steel: CONCRETE 
roof: COMPOSITION: Tar and Pebbles;

CONCRETE
other:

Narrative Description
Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

The Chesapeake an(i Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility at 1111 North 
Capitol Street, N.E. was constructed in 1926-1927, with very minimal elements of the Art Deco 
style presented in a utilitarian fashion that was appropriate for the building’s use as a warehouse, 
office, and garage. Constructed in reinforced concrete with steel framing, the verticality of the 
three- and four-story building is expressed by fluting and the suggestion of pilasters that extend 
past the horizontal bands of multi-light steel windows. In an effort to further reduce the 
horizontality of the elevations created by the bands of windows, the end bays are transformed 
into comer towers by the extension of the pilasters past the roof line, terminating into a stepped 
parapet. The flat roof is currently sheathed with a rubber membrane. A non-functioning, metal 
water tower is located on the roof, which is accessible by stairs from inside the building. A 
yellow brick chimney rises from the rear inset comer of the building, adjacent to the four-story 
main block and three-story wing. The primary entry is located on North Capitol Street, with 
secondary entries along Pierce Street and the rear of the building.

Exterior:

The 1926-1927 warehouse eind repair facility is a four-story main block with a rear three-story 
wing, and a one-and-a-half-story brick stmcture on the south elevation. The main block extends 
ten bays to the south from Pierce Street along North Capitol Street, and is five bays wide on 
Pierce Street. The rear three-story wing extends from the main block an additional five bays 
along Pierce Street and is six bays wide. On the south elevation of the main block, there is a one- 
and-a-half-story brick stmcture that extends to the rear of the property. The elevations of the 
building are horizontally uniform with paired and tripled steel-frame windows piercing the main 
block and rear wing. On the second, third and fourth stories, triple multi-light steel-frame hopper 
windows are evenly spaced within the bays. The fenestration on the first story was modified on 
each elevation to accommodate the various functions that took place within the building. A few 
of the window panes have been removed to allow for the placement of individual air 
conditioning units, presumably a late-twentieth-century alteration.

The utilitarian nature of the building is reinforced by the painted-white concrete elevations and 
lack of high-style ornamentation associated with the Art Deco style. Minimal ornamentation is 
found on the primary facades on Pierce and North Capitol Streets. On the North Capitol Street
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elevation, the bays are separated by square pilasters that extend upward from a pronounced water 
table that wraps the base of the building. The double-leaf metal-and-glass-doors of the main 
entry are enhanced by a stepped concrete surround that frames the recessed entrance. The 
opening is framed by original double-stepped square-edged travertine trim that also covers the 
interior of the entry. Above the doors, an original decorative wrought-iron screen in a zigzag 
pattern covers the one-light wire-glass transom. The doors are not in keeping with the Art Deco 
influences, and therefore may have been replaced, although no documentation has been located to 
support this thesis. In the six bays to the north of the main entrance, there are original triple 
elongated single 3/3/3 steel-frame fixed and hopper windows covered with metal screens. To the 
south, the three bays contain standard-sized 3/3 fixed steel-frame windows. Shallow buttresses 
between the bays, as well as the window openings, reveal the original use of this area as 
vehicular garage openings for the loading and unloading of trucks prior to 1950.

On the first story of the north elevation along Pierce Street, there are two garage entrances in the 
main block and single 3/3/3 steel-frame windows located in the rear wing. The vehicular garage 
openings have roll-up replacement doors of vinyl. A secondary vehicular opening was enclosed 
with concrete blocks and stucco in the fourth bay from the east comer of the building on the 
Pierce Street elevation. This bay ciurently holds a single-leaf entry. The upper stories of the 
Pierce Street fa9ade is pierced by original paired and tripled elongated single 3/3/3 steel-frame 
fixed and hopper windows covered with metal screens. Despite the more utilitarian appearance 
of the Pierce Street elevation, the end bay in the rear three-story wing has the original four-story 
stair tower that is equal in stature to the four-story main block because of the pilasters that extend 
past the roof line and terminate into a stepped parapet.

One-and-a-half-story brick sfructure that originally wrapped aroimd the south and part of the east 
elevations of the four-story main block is one bay wide along North Capitol Street. Because of 
the 1950-1951 addition, the east elevation of the one-and-a-half-story brick structure is not 
discemable from the exterior, but clearly is present on the interior. Lacking stylistic 
ornamentation, the brick sfructure is pierced by a single window opening on North Capitol Street 
and a single-leaf entry opening along the south elevation, which presently fronts a parking lot. 
The brick structure is topped by a flat roof with masonry coping. Based on the original building 
permit for the warehouse and repair facility, as well as historic maps, it appears the one-and-a- 
half-story brick structure was original. However, it should be noted that the stmcture is 
constructed of brick, rather than concrete like the main block and wing. Additionally,
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stylistically, this structure does not reflect the influences of the Art Deco style. Thus, it is 
possible, the one-and-a-half-story brick structure predated the warehouse and repair facility and 
was incorporated into the new building.

Ghosting of the one-story brick building located 1101 North Capitol Street, occupied by the 
Paramoxmt Famous Lasky Company, is visible along the south elevation. This building, which is 
no longer extant, was constructed in 1922. The upper stories of the four-story main block are 
pierced by original paired and tripled elongated single 3/3/3 steel-frame fixed and hopper 
windows covered with metal screens. The fire-proof stair tower in the southeastern comer of the 
building is original, despite its lack of ornamentation. The tower is pierced on the west elevation 
by 3/3/3 steel-frame fixed and hopper windows, while the south and east elevations are devoid of 
openings. The imfenestrated elevations of the tower are marked by fluting. The flat roof of the 
projecting struchire rises beyond the roofline of the main block, allowing access to the roof.

The secondary elevations have the same fenestration pattern and architectural detailing between 
the bays as those along North Capitol and Pierce Streets. There is an original tall yellow brick 
chimney at the rear of the building where the three-story wing connects to the four-story main 
block. The more functional aspects of the warehouse are located at the rear of the structure, as 
illustrated by the metal shed roof overhanging the first story of the east elevation of the three- 
story wing. No permits were discovered to document the addition of the shed roof on the east 
elevation, and it is presumed based on historic maps that the shed roof was added as part of the 
1950-1951 alterations. Thus, the shed roof is not original. In 1950-1951, a one-story, brick 
addition specifically designed for storage and as a tmck court was consfructed by Western 
Electric. The addition coimects to the one-and-a-half-story brick building and to the three-story 
wing on the south elevations. The warehouse addition has eight vehicular garage openings 
fronting along L Street.

Interior:

The interior of the C&P Warehouse building, currently occupied by the Smithsonian Institution, 
ranges from three to four stories in height with a partial basement. The ground level (first floor) 
is accessed by the main pedestrian entry on North Capitol Street and by large vehicular garage 
door openings on Pierce Street, several of which have been filled in. The pedestrian entry opens 
into a modest vestibule with terrazzo flooring. An elevator is located directly in front of the main
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door with stairs behind it. Beyond the entry area, on this ground-level floor is a large L-shaped 
open area of 11 bays (reduced by five bays at the southeast comer, creating the L-shaped 
footprint), formed by evenly spaced rows and columns of large, concrete mushroom-capped 
columns. This area, historically used for garaging the telephone company vehicles, is now used 
for storage, with large caged-in areas filled with obsolete office equipment.

The second and third floors share the identical plan defined by 11 bays of large mushroom- 
capped concrete columns running the length and width of the building and supporting the thick 
(approximately 2-foot-thick) concrete ceilings. Office and shop areas are partitioned off along 
the north and south sides of the building at these levels, providing the rooms with banks of 
windows and an abundance of natural light. The open room in the center of the second and third 
floors enjoys natural light fi"om the end walls, while that of the third floor also benefits fi'om 
large monitor windows. Although generally open, there are several other partitions, including a 
wall dividing the L-shaped plan into two open rooms, rather than one large room. The second 
floor is used for book and manuscript restoration/conservation services, while third floors of the 
building are used as woodworking, graphics and other shop areas for the creation and 
construction of museum installations.

The fourth floor of the building only exists at the fi-ont wing of the building, basically extending 
10x5 bays and running lengthwise along North Capitol Street. Like the lower floors, this floor 
is primarily defined by its large mushroom-capped concrete columns and banks of steel sash 
windows. The fourth floor is used for furniture storage.

The basement level of the building only occupies a portion of the building’s footprint. Current 
and historical mechanical equipment is located at this level, including the building’s original two 
boilers and the base and shaft of the large chimney stack connected to the boilers by large metal 
ducts.
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8. Statement of Significance
Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark x in one or more boxes for the criteria 
qualifying the property for National Register listing.)

[X] A Property is associated with events that have 
made a significant contribution to the broad patterns 
of our history.

[ ] B Property is associated with the lives of 
persons significant in our past.

[X] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or represents 
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or 
represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose 
components lack individual distinction.

[ ] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Marie X in all the boxes that apply.)
[ ] A owned by a religious institution or 
used for religious purposes.

[ ] B removed fi-om its original location.

[ ] C a birthplace or grave.

[ ] D a cemetery.

[ ] E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

[ ] F a commemorative property.

[ ] G less than 50 years of age or achieved 
significance within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories fiom instructions)

ARCHITECTURE:
COMMUNICATIONS

Period of Significance 
1925-1951

Significant Dates
1925-1926
1950-1951

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder
Charles H. Tompkins Co.

(builder)___________
McKenzie. Voorhees & 

Gmelin (architects)

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or mote continuation sheets.)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Chesapeake and Potomac (C&P) Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility at 
1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. has played a significant role in the complex maintenance and 
expansion of the rapidly expanding communication system of Washington, D.C. The building 
was one of numerous telephone-related resources constructed during the C&P Telephone 
Company’s second major building campaign. This building campaign was a conscious attempt 
by the telephone company to alleviate the enormous demands for telephone service that 
commenced during World War I and continued throughout the 1920s as technological 
achievements augmented interest for both local and international calling. When built in 1926- 
1927, the warehouse was the largest building erected by the telephone company, incorporating 
the repair shops, supply shops, and plant offices of the C&P Telephone Company along with the 
offices and supply shops of Western Electric Company, the manufacturing subsidiary of the Bell 
Systems. An example of rapid early-twentieth-century warehouse construction in the nation’s 
capital, the utilitarian building imparts fundamental traces of the Art Deco style. The varying 
heights of the concrete structure, and placement of the window and entry openings suggest the 
arrangement of the various interior functions. The New York architectural firm of McKenzie, 
Voorhees & Gmelin, company architects for Bell Telephone, was responsible for the design of a 
number of C&P Telephone Company buildings in New York, New Jersey, Boston, and 
Washington, D.C., including the warehouse and repair facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. 
The Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility is the largest 
and sole-surviving of the three known warehouse and repair facility erected by Chesapeake and 
Potomac Telephone Company in Washington, D.C. between 1877 and 1954. The building at 
nil North Capitol Street, N.E. closed in August 1958, a result of the ever-changing 
communications technology that required additional space and the availability of less-expensive 
property in the growing suburbs.

The Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility at 1111 North 
Capitol Street, N.E. meets National Register of Historic Places Criterion A: Association with 
events, activities or patterns; and Criterion C: Distinctive physical characteristics of design, 
construction, or form. The Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and 
Repair Facility represents the achievements of the telephone system and how this advancing 
technology impacted the cultural and physical development of Washington, D.C. in the 1920s. 
Further, the concrete building embodies very minimal elements of Art Deco style in a utilitarian 
fashion, as well as warehouse construction during the second quarter of the twentieth century in
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the nation’s capital. The eclectic Art Deco style, although extremely modest in its expression at 
the building at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E., is an mban style that was embraced by the 
company architects of Bell Telephone as part of their national corporate image. The areas of 
significance are Architecture as a utilitarian interpretation of the Art Deco style, a stark contrast 
to the high-style buildings designed for the telephone company, and early-twentieth-century 
warehouses; and Communications for its association with the maintenance and expansion of the 
city’s telephone system. The period of significance is 1926 to 1951, documenting construction 
of the structure in 1926 to the infilling of the vehicular entry openings along North Capitol Street 
and the addition of the one-story warehouse on L Street in 1951.

The Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility is being 
nominated under the Multiple Property Documentation Form, Telecommunication Resources of 
Washington, D.C. (NR Approved 12/2006). Further, the building was recognized with the 
Historic Context Outline of the District of Columbia Comprehensive Plan for Historic 
Preservation under the theme of “Railroad Commerce and Warehousing” (C9) as a potentially 
eligible property identified within the D.C. Warehouse Survey Project (March 1991).
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History of the C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility

Orisinal Construction: Utilitarian Art Deco Desisn and Location

On December 23, 1925, the New York-based architectural firm of McKenzie, Voorhees & 
Gmelin, on behalf of the Chesapeake & Potomac (C&P) Telephone Company, obtained a permit 
for a building at 1115 North Capitol Street, N.E. The final construction permit was issued on 
March 20, 1926. The three- and four-story, reinforced-concrete structure was to be located on 
part of Lx)t 8, Lx)ts 9, 10, and 11 (now Lot 837) in Square 673. According to the plat submitted as 
part of the permit application, the building was to be positioned on the southeast comer of North 
Capitol Street and Pierce Street, with the primary elevations extending southward on North 
Capitol Street and eastward on Pierce Street. The building was to serve as a repair garage and 
warehouse with offices for the Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company and its 
manufactiuing subsidiary, the Western Electric Company. C&P Telephone Company was to 
occupy sixty percent of the building, while Western Electric was to use forty percent of the floor 
space.* The permits indicated that the new structure was to be 223’ 3” wide and 229’ 6” deep. 
According to the permit application, there would be projections beyond the building line, but the 
specifications for these projections are not known. The constmction of the stmcture in 1926 was 
estimated to cost $500,000; however, the Washington Post reported on June 12, 1927 that the 
final cost of construction was over $800,000, which included the cost of the land.

Washington Post articles touted the new warehouse and repair facility of the C&P Telephone 
Company as the “largest stmcture owned by the company in the city.”^ The fire-proof building, 
often referred to as the main plant, was intentionally designed to meet the current needs of the 
company’s communication engineers and allow for future expansions. The first floor of this 
multi-purpose building was used as a large garage for the fleet of 100 bucks necessary for the 
constmction and maintenance of the telephone systems. Additionally, the first floor housed a 
cabinetmaker’s shop, blacksmith shop and forge, machine shop, and finishing shop where the 
bucks were painted. The second floor housed the repair shops where telephone apparatus was 
overhauled. The Western Electric Company used part of the second floor as light storage space, 
while their offices and shops were located on the third floor. The fourth floor was occupied by 
the staff of P.B. Burton, who was the first general superintendent of the warehouse. 
Additionally, a cafeteria, and restrooms were located on the fourth floor, which was periodically 
opened as an exposition space where the newest telephone e<3uipment was displayed. The 
stmcture included three sets of enclosed stairs and three elevators.^
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Today, the building is used by the Smithsonian Institution. The first floor is primarily used for 
storage of office equipment, while the second and third floors are occupied by woodworking, 
graphics and other shops used for the construction of museum installations. Smithsonian 
Libraries division also had a manuscript repair shop, where rare books are repaired and restored. 
The fourth floor is used for storage, primarily for antique fiimiture that has been removed for 
safekeeping fi-om Smithsonian-owned buildings, in particular the Arts and Industries Building on 
the National Mall.

Art Deco, traditionally an urban style, was unassumingly expressed at the warehouse and repair 
facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. by the architectural firm of McKenzie, Voorhees & 
Gmelin. Modification letters fi'om April 1926 included with the original construction permits for 
the building indicate Bevan Jones, an associate architect with the firm, was overseeing the design 
and construction of the warehouse and repair facility. Bevan Jones was a civil engineer who 
graduated jfrom Cornell University in 1906.'* In 1924, Jones was the “resident architect” at 
McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin’s Washington Office at 1343 H Street, N.W. Rather than 
present the high-style ommentality of 1920s Art Deco, which is less dynamic than the 
flamboyant 1930s Art Deco, the architect chose to reflect the classical impulses of Washington, 
D.C. combined with modest traces of Art Deco. The North Capitol Street fa9ade, extending ten 
bay wide, has the distinct base, shaft, and capital of classical architectme with subtle vertical 
accents at the comer bays. This verticality, indicative of the Art Deco style, is minimally 
expressed by the use of stepped parapets along the roofline and the fluting between the bays. The 
double-leaf main entry on North Capitol Street, fi-amed by a double-stepped square-edged 
travertine surround, is deeply recessed and ornamented with an ogee-moMed back band and 
stepped molded surround, and a one-light transom with zigzag metal security bars. The spans 
between the window openings are marked by vertical fluting that highlights Art Deco verticality, 
disallowing any horizontal tension created by the paired and tripled window openings.

The architectural firm of McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin was overwhelmingly prolific in then- 
use of the Art Deco style, as demonstrated in their work for the C&P Telephone Company in 
New York, New Jersey, Boston, and Washington, D.C. in the 1920s The C&P Telephone 
Company, in working with the firm of McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin (later Voorhees, Gmelin 
& Walker) and its predecessor, architect Cyrus Eidlitz, presented a national corporate image 
through their architecture. The company advertised the importance of its corporate and local 
image, stating that “a lot of thought goes into designing buildings that reflect that spirit and
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purpose” of the telephone company.

[The buildings are] built along simple lines, both for looks and for economy.
They are sturdy, fire-resisting, and in every case the architect’s plans allow for 
expansion. They are designed to provide a constantly improving service.

The aim of your telephone company is to make each building a structure that is in 
harmony with its surroundings and which fits into the local scene.

[The telephone company is] dedicated to serving always the best interest of your 
community in a fnendly and neighborly way. Telephone buildings are symbols of 
that purpose. All of these buildings are part of a big program of service 
improvement.^

As discussed in detail in the “Historic and Architectural Properties of the Chesapeake and 
Potomac Telephone Company in Washington, D.C. Multiple Property Document,” the most 
striking example of the telephone company’s corporate image in Washington, D.C. is the high- 
style Art Deco building at 730 12^*' Street, N.W., which was completed in 1929. Known as the 

C&P Central Exchange, the building is located adjacent to the 1903-1904 Beaux Arts-style Main 
Office at 722 12*'’ Street, N.W. These two buildings were viewed as the primary office and 

exchange for the C&P Telephone Company, thus making it essential that the architectural 
interpretations strongly reflect the company’s national corporate images. The modest utilitarian 
expression of the Art Deco at the warehouse facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E., although 
acknowledging the style, intentionally stands in stark contrast to the primary office and exchange.

In contrast, the warehouse and repair facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. is more 
conservative in its presentation of the national corporate image. This is presumably attributed to 
the building’s utilitarian function as well as its location within an industrial section to the north 
of Union Station in northeast Washington, D.C. The building, although prominently located on 
North Capitol Street, was specifically designed to serve as a warehouse, garage, and repair 
facility of the C&P Telephone Company. The company’s engineers were eonsulted during the 
design of the building to ensure the interior spaces met the growing demands of the telephone 
company, as well as allotted for future expansion. The Washington Post reported that C.A. 
Robinson, chief engineer of the telephone company, personally supervised construction of the 
warehouse and repair facility.
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The broad term “warehouse,” as defined in the final report for the D.C. Warehouse Survey 
Project (March 1991), includes industrial architecture related to the storage, as well as the 
manufacturing and processing of equipment or goods.^ The building at 1111 North Capitol 
Street, N.E. is typical of the twentieth-century warehouses, which were commonly steel-and- 
concrete-ffame structures that eliminated load-bearing walls and the constraints of fenestration. 
Steel windows were well-suited for industrial facilities, allowing large amounts of light along 
with fire-proof window construction. By the 1920s, steel windows like those at the C&P 
Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility, were considered a necessity in a fimctional 
industrial design. The window openings typically included at least twenty lights with a pivot, 
awning, or hopper sash at the bottom or in the center. The types of windows and their 
configuration often were indicative of the building’s purpose, with large expanses of glass used 
on manufacturing facilities to provide ample light and ventilation. Storage facilities required 
windowless compartments opening off of corridors that were artificially lit at each end.^

As recounted in the final report for the D.C. Warehouse Survey Project (March 1991), industrial 
buildings of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries in Washington, D.C. exhibit diluted 
architectural styles, emphasizing their utilitarian and industrial character. Economy of materials 
and requirements of space generally limited the decorative elements to construction rather than 
applied materials.* Architectural historian Russell Sturgis even went so far as to state that 
warehouses “must be separated from any and all of the recognized historical styles of 
architecture.”^ The warehouse and repair facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. is an notable 

example of the dilution of historic architectural styles.

Prior to the 1907 construction of Union Station, the industrial section of northeast Washington, 
D.C. was sparsely developed with the greatest concentration of building located to the south of L 
Street. The area was predominantly residential with some industrial buildings along the 
Metropolitan Branch of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, which ran north from the Mall along 
Delaware Avenue to First Street. At the turn of the twentieth century, only eight warehouses 
were located in this area. With the development of Union Station and the expansion of the rail 
lines to the north, the number of warehouses increased dramatically in the first quarter of the 
twentieth century. This increased development of warehouses along the railroad lines 
demonstrates the shift in the transportation patterns of the city. Most of the early-eighteenth- and 
nineteenth-century warehouses are located in Georgetown along the canal and in Alexandria 
along the waterfront where shipping was the main means of transporting goods and materials.
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By the mid-to-late-nineteenth century, the railroad industry emerged as the primary means of 
transporting goods across the country. Consequently, in Washington, D.C., one of the greatest 
concentration of warehouses used for the manufacturing and storage of good began to develop 
next to these new transportation corridors.

The warehouses in Washington, D.C., specifically those around Union Station, are clustered 
along major transportation corridors with residential development surrounding. The clustering 
natiue of the buildings typically determined the size, type, shape, and style of construction. The 
warehouse survey report details that these industrial buildings varied in height fi-om one to six 
stories. Most commonly, the warehouses in this section of northeast Washington, D.C. stand one 
to three stories, and are typically nestled on secondary streets behind the railroad tracks or off the 
main traffic arteries. Taller warehouses, typically rising four to six stories, are located on major 
transportation corridors like North Capitol Street, where the four-story C«&P Telephone Company 
Warehouse and Repair Facility is prominently sited.

Growth and Expansion of C&P Influences the History of the Warehouse and Repair Facility

As narrated by the “Historic and Architectural Properties of the Chesapeake and Potomac 
Telephone Company in Washington, D.C. Multiple Property Document,” the new main plant on 
North Capitol Street in northeast Washington, D.C. was one of numerous buildings constructed 
by the telephone company during a major building campaign. This second period of expansion 
was a direct result of the wartime activities related to World War I (1914-1918) and the need for 
direct communication to and from the nation’s capitol that occurred after the war. Public and 
private growth in Washington, D.C. and its surrounding suburbs was tremendous, prompting the 
rapid construction of services and amenities such as water, electric lights, paved street, public 
transportation, and telephone lines to new residents and businesses. The C«&P Telephone 
Company, recognizing the demand for telephone services, was continuously laying and 
expanding lines, building exchanges, and recruiting operators to accommodate the ever- 
increasing number of lines and subscribers.

In 1950, in light of the continued expansion of the telephone company, the Western Electric 
Company, which now occupied the majority of the floor space in the warehouse at 1111 North 
Capitol Street, N.E., applied for a permit to enclose the vehicular openings on North Capitol 
Street to allow for additional warehouse space. The September 1950 permit noted that Joseph F. 
Ruth of New York was the designer, with Davis, Wick, Rosengarter Company as the contractor.
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Although the work was the product of a New York designer, it is not known if Joseph F. Ruth 
was commonly used as a corporate architect by the telephone company. A second permit applied 
for simultaneously requested permission for the construction of a one-story addition at the 
southeast comer of the property. Additional work undertaken in 1951 includes the rearrangement 
of interior spaces and the constmction of a reinforced-concrete loading dock on the first story of 
the east elevation. All of the work was completed by October 1951.

The continued growth of the Washington Metropolitan Area and the ongoing innovations of the 
telephone again prompted the C&P Telephone Company to construct new plants and expand 
existing facilities. Thus, in 1956, the Western Electric Company began constmction of a new 
distribution center in Arlington County to serve the outlying Virginia suburbs. The new center at 
1201 South Hayes Street was used as a warehouse for storage of telephone equipment and other 
supplies, as well as shipping operations.** The larger facility employed 700 to 800 persons, over 

200 more than the North Capitol Street warehouse.
The new Virginia building was intended to supplement the main warehouse and repair facility at 
1111 North Capitol Street, N.E., however, the older facility was closed immediately upon the 
occupancy of the new stmcture because it was deemed too small for the ever-expanding 
communication services. Telephone equipment was moved from the North Capitol Street 
warehouse during a weekend in August 1958 with no reported intermption in telephone service 
and maintenance. Division manager W.A. Steward continued to serve in the same capacity at the 
new Virginia warehouse.

According to the city directories, fi'om 1960 to 1964, the building at 1111 North Capitol Street, 
N.E., was occupied by the John I. Thompson & Company, a research engineer and management 
consultant firm. In 1964, the Jack Stone Company, then owners of the building, obtained a 
permit to erect a sign along North Capitol Street to advertising the availability of the building for 
sale or lease. Between 1967 and 1973, the Government Printing Office was using the building as 
a warehouse. In 1975, the Jack Stone Company applied for permits to make repairs and upgrades 
to the elevators. The Smithsonian Institution has used the former telephone company warehouse 
and repair facility as a warehouse and offices for the exhibit staff since 1977. The building was 
purchased by the current owners, WB/BFP North Capitol Street, LLC, in 2005.

Intesritv of the Warehouse and Repair Facility

As constructed, based on permits, historic maps, and a circa 1941 illustration of the building, the
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main plant is a fire-proof reinforced-concrete structure with two primary facades fronting North 
Capitol Street and Pierce Street. The main block stands four stories in height with a three-story 
wing extending from the northern end of the east elevation, thus creating a three- and four-story 
fa9ade along Pierce Street. The utilitarian design of the Art Deco-style warehouse has not been 
compromised by subsequent alterations and additions that were undertaken by the C&P 
Telephone Company or Western Electric Company. Subsequent property owners or occupants 
have not made substantive alterations to the building except for the addition of duct work and air 
conditioning units on the exterior. Vehicular entry openings on North Capitol Street in the 
eighth, ninth, and tenth bays (reading southward from Pierce Street) were enclosed in 1950-1951 
to allow for additional storage space on the ground (first) floor of the warehouse. The location of 
the wide openings is discemable by the slightly projecting, one-story buttresses that frame the 
bays, as well as by the window openings that presently fill the spaces. The beveled watertable on 
the first six bays of the fa9ade is mimicked by the continuous beveled sills of the banded 
windows that now occupy the infilled bays. Further, the openings hold standard-sized six-light 
fixed metal sashes, rather than the original elongated nine-light metal sashes, which have square- 
edged masonry sills. A secondary vehicular opening on the Pierce Street elevation was enclosed 
with concrete blocks and stucco in the fourth bay from the east comer of the building. This bay 
currently holds a single-leaf entry.

The infill of the vehicular entry openings, which were utilitarian in design and form, does not 
compromise the integrity of the building’s design, materials, workmanship, or feeling as the 
existence of the openings is discemable. The location of the openings is supported by physical 
evidence as well as historical records including building permits and photographs, and is viewed 
as reversible. Additionally, the work was done for the Western Electric Company, retaining the 
integrity of association.

Simultaneous to the infill of the vehicular entry openings on North Capitol Street in 1950-1951 
was the constmction of a one-story warehouse addition at the southeastern comer of the 
sfructure. Constmction of this very utilitarian industrially designed addition on L Street does not 
compromise the integrity of design, materials, or workmanship as the addition was joined to the 
original one-story warehouse section that wrapped around the south and part of the east 
elevations of the four-story main block, thus preserving the main block as designed. Further, the 
one-story warehouse addition consfructed in 1951 abuts the south elevation of the building’s 
three-story wing, but did not require interior openings to allow access between the two spaces, 
thus preserving the integrity of design, materials, and workmanship of the three-story wing.
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However, the 1951 addition, which can be viewed as a partially freestanding structure, is not in 
keeping with the architectural design and form of the original 1926-1927 warehouse and repair 
facility. The industrial addition was not the work of the same corporate architect, although it was 
constructed under the ownership of the Western Electric Company. Further, it does not try to 
express or even imply the national corporate image'as the original warehouse clearly attempted. 
Although the addition does not compromise the integrity of the main block because of its 
location and physical link, it is deemed as a non-contributing addition to the whole.

Interior Integrity:

The building is no longer used for its original purpose as a warehouse and repair facility for the 
C&P Telephone Company. It is occupied and in use by the Smithsonian Institution for storage of 
historic and obsolete furniture, and for shops associated with the fabrication and installation of 
museum displays and exhibits. In addition, the institution operates its book conservation division 
in the building.

Architecturally, the building’s open floor plan and structural system is entirely intact with its 
mushroom-capped columns visible on all of the floors and the banks of steel sash windows intact 
and operable along the exterior walls. Certain original interior partition walls are intact, while 
others have been added. These partitions are entirely reversible and do not compromise the 
integrity of the building’s interior.
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END NOTES

' Joseph H. Cromwell, The C&P Story: Service in Action, Washington, D.C., (Washington, D.C.: Chesapeake and 
Potomac Telephone Company of Washington, D.C., 1981), pp. 40-41.
^ “New Phone Building Will House Shops,” The Washington Post, 12 Jime 1927, p. rll.
^ “New Phone Building Will House Shops,” The Washington Post, 12 June 1927, p. rll.
^ Application for Membership, American Institute of Architects. October 25, 1921.
’ See The C&P Call, 20 April 1949; D.C. Historic Landmark Application, “Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone 
Company Buildings,” July 1981, Section 310.22, p. 3.
* Traceries for the D.C. Preservation League, “D.C. Warehouse Survey Project, Final Report,” March 1991, p. 11.
’ Traceries for the D.C. Preservation League, “D.C. Warehouse Survey Project, Final Report,” March 1991, p. 13.
* Traceries for the D.C. Preservation League, “D.C. Warehouse Survey Project, Final Report,” March 1991, p. 18.
’ Russell Sturgis, “Factories and Warehouses,” Architectural Record, vol. 19, May 1906, p. 309.

Traceries for the D.C. Preservation League, “D.C. Warehouse Survey Project, Final Report,” March 1991, pp. 16- 
17.
“ The South Hayes Street Center was extensively renovated in 1994 for commercial use. “Big Distribution Center in 
Arlington,” The Washington Post, 5 December 1956.
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Cromwell, Joseph H. “The C«&P Story: Service in Action, Washington, D.C.” Washington, D.C. 
Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company of Washington, D.C., 1981
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All photographs are of:
Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility

Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc., photographer 

All negatives are in the possession of EHT Traceries, Inc.

1) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
West Elevation Looking Southeast
1 of 11

2) C«&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
West Elevation Looking Northeast
2 of 11

C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC 
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
Entrance on West Elevation Looking East 
3ofll



NPS Form 10-900 
(Rev. 11-90) OMBNo. 10024-0018

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 

Continuation Sheet

Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, D.C.

Section number Photographs Page 23

4) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
South Elevation Looking Northeast 
4ofll

5) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
East Elevation Looking Northwest 
5of 11

6) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC 
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
East Elevation Looking West 
6ofll

C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC 
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
East Elevation Looking Southwest 
7ofll
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8) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
EHT Traceries, Inc.
2/2006
EHT Traceries, Inc.
North Elevation Looking Southeast 
8ofll

9) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
Kim Williams, photographer
3/2007
D.C. HPO
Interior, Floor showing open plan and mushroom columns 
9ofll

10) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC
Kim Williams, photographer
3/2007
D.C. HPO
Interior, Shop Room, 3*^^ Floor 

lOofll

11) C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair Facility 
Washington, DC 
Kim Williams, photographer 
3/2007 
D.C. HPO
Interior, Basement showing boiler 
11 of 11
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Re: 06001159 

Dear Patrick:

Please find enclosed a revised nomination for the C&P Telephone Company Warehouse and Repair 
Facility at 1111 North Capitol Street, N.E. As requested on the return sheet, the revised nomination 
provides a description of the interior of the building including a description of the current use of 
each floor, as well as an evaluation of the interior’s historic integrity. In addition, I have added three 
interior photographs to the nomination.

Sincerely,

—
Kim Williams
Architectural Historian/National Register Coordinator 
D.C. Historic Preservation Office of Plarming

801 North Capitol Street, NE, Suite 3000, Washington, D.C. 20002 (202) 442-8800 fax (202) 535-2497


